FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/26/2022 10:55 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. _____

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 82418-0-I)

ERASMUS BAXTER, ASIA FIELDS and JULIA FURUKAWA,

Appellees,

v.

WESTERN WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY, an agency of the State of Washington,

Appellees,

DOE 3 and DOE 4,

Appellants-Intervenors

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Atty for Doe 4 Atty for Doe 3

Todd Maybrown Stephen Graham 600 University St. 1312 N. Monroe

Suite 3020 Suite 140

Seattle, WA 98101 Spokane, WA 99201 (206) 447-9681 (509) 252-9167

This case presents issues of substantial public interest.

The disclosure of personally identifying information of students at WWU has broad implications across public schools in the State of Washington and therefore involves a fundamental and urgent issue of broad public import which requires prompt and ultimate determination by this Court.

II. <u>IDENTIFY OF PETITIONERS</u>

Petitioners, Doe 3 and Doe 4, are two former students of WWU.¹

III. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

On December 26, 2021, the Court of Appeals issued a published decision affirming the WWU student's motion for injunctive relief. *See Appendix A*.

IV. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

This Petition for Review presents the Court with an opportunity to address important and unresolved legal issues of first impression concerning the interaction between the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act and Washington's Public Records ACT. The issues presented include:

(1) Whether a student's due process protections are violated when the student agrees to participate in a school disciplinary proceeding based on assurances that the results of that proceeding,

3

 $^{^{1}}$ Doe 1, Doe 2, Doe 5, Doe 6 and Doe 7 are no longer participating in this matter.

and the student's personally identifiable information, would not be disclosed to the public and where the school fails to notify the student that these assurances are illusory?

- (2) Does FERPA supersede or override the confidentiality provisions in WAC 516-21 or WAC 516-26?
- (3) Is Western Washington University a "public school" within the meaning the PRA exemption in RCW 42.56.210(1)?
- (4) Are the confidentiality provisions in WWU's Student Code of Conduct, as codified in WAC 516-21 or WAC 516-26, "other statutes" within the meaning of RCW 42.56.070?
- (5) Is the final result exemption in FERPA is void for vagueness in light of the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Johnson v. United States*, 576 U.S. 591 (2015) and its progeny?

V. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

A. WWU's Student Code of Conduct and Student Intervenors' Disciplinary Proceedings

Doe 3 and Doe 4 were the subjects of a disciplinary proceeding at WWU. Doe 3's proceeding was initiated in 2017; Doe 4's proceeding was initiated in 2015. Both Doe 3 and Doe

4 were found to have violated the WWU's Student Code of Conduct following a hearing. After initiating an appeal, Doe 3 entered into a final settlement agreement with WWU.

All student disciplinary proceedings at WWU are governed by its Student Code of Conduct as delineated in WAC 516-21 ("Code"). The pertinent Code provisions severely limit the release of personally identifying information and disciplinary findings. *See* WAC 516-26.² The Code provides:

The university shall not permit access to or release of a student's education records or personally identifiable information contained therein to any person without the written consent of the student, except as provided in WAC 516-26-080, 516-26-085, or 516-26-090.

WAC 516-26-070. The only pertinent exception is found in WAC 516-26-080(g), which authorizes disclosure of the results of any disciplinary proceeding to the alleged victim of any crime of violence.

5

² Because these Student Intervenors' hearings occurred several years ago, this Court should look to the Code provisions in place at that time. For the Court's convenience, a copy of the relevant WAC provisions are attached as *Appendix C*.

The Code contains a comprehensive confidentiality notice pertaining to disciplinary records. *See* WAC 516-21-310. In fact, the Code includes a directive that such records "[w]ill not be shared with *any member of the public*, except upon the informed written consent of the student(s) involved. or as stated in the student records policy." WAC 516-21-310(1)(b).

Doe 3 and Doe 4 relied upon these Code provisions – and WWU's assurances of confidentiality – before participating in the school's disciplinary process.

B. Plaintiffs' PRA Request

On October 10, 2018, Plaintiffs delivered a PRA request to WWU, where they sought disclosure of "the final results, including the student's name, of disciplinary proceedings where [WWU] has determined a student was responsible for a crime of violence or non-forcible sexual offense in the last five years." Appendix D (emphasis added). When advancing this claim, Plaintiffs argued that this information must be disclosed under the "final results" exception to FERPA as set forth in 20 U.S.C.

§ 1232g(b)(6)(B). WWU initially resisted that request. But, sometime later, the school's public records officer subsequently sent an email message inviting the impacted students to seek an injunction to block disclosure. *See Appendix E*.

C. The WWU Litigation

Meanwhile, Plaintiffs initiated a civil action against WWU in the Whatcom County Superior Court wherein they argued that the school had failed to provide a complete response to the PRA request. Among other things, Plaintiffs noted WWU had already provided a "table" in response to the request in which the school had redacted the names of all students and former students who were identified in that document.³ But Plaintiffs claimed the redacted names were not exempt from disclosure under the PRA.

Thereafter, the parties filed a stipulation that permitted several students to intervene pursuant to CR 24(a). Student

³ This table was prepared and produced by WWU before Student Intervenor were notified of the PRA request. It is debatable whether this type of response was required under the PRA. *See, Fisher Broadcasting-Seattle TV LLC v. City of Seattle*, 180 Wn.2d 515, 523–24 (2014) (PRA does not require an agency to mine existing data and then "create" a new record).

intervenors then moved for an injunction claiming that their personal identifying information was exempt from disclosure for several reasons. See CP 105-17, 118-36, 164-75, 176-87, 318-25, 326-30, 331-35. In particular, the students argued that the requested information was exempted under the student records exemption in RCW 42.56.230(1) as well as the confidentiality provisions within WWU's Code and WAC 516-21 or WAC 516-26. Moreover, insofar as Plaintiffs and WWU were claiming that this information was subject to disclosure under FERPA's final result exception, the students argued that the exception was void for vagueness in light of the decision in Johnson v. United States, 576 U.S. 591 (2015) and its progeny. Finally, the students claimed that their due process rights had been violated in light of the WWU Code and the school's assurances that their personally identifiable information would not be shared the public.

On August 10, 2020, the parties appeared for a hearing before Whatcom County Superior Court Judge David Freeman.

At the outset, Judge Freeman acknowledged that this was a case of first impression. As he explained: "Frankly, I'm surprised that this issue has not been addressed previously in the appellate courts. I'm a little shocked by that actually." *Appendix F* (8/10/20 VRP at 3).

Judge Freeman denied Student intervenors' request for injunctive relief – although he pointedly noted that reasonable minds could differ as to the correct ruling in the case. *See id.* As a threshold matter, Judge Freeman concluded that WWU is a "public school" and thus falls within the ambit of the student files exemption in RCW 42.56.230(1). *See id.* at 4. However, the judge determined that Student Intervenors' personal identifying information within WWU's disciplinary records were not exempt from disclosure as a result of this Court's decision in *Lindeman v. Kelso*, 162 Wn.2d 196 (2007). *See id.*

Judge Freeman also rejected Student intervenors' claim that the pertinent WAC provisions would amount to an "other statute" under the PRA. *See id*. In essence, the judge ruled that

these WAC provisions were *ultra vires*. *See id.* at 4-5. But Judge Freeman failed to address any of the student's due process claims.

Later, on October 22, 2020, Judge Freeman entered an order pursuant to CR 54(b) (*Appendix B*). Before signing the order, the judge explained his reasoning:

I am prepared to enter an order under 54(b) or a partial order under 54(b) in order for this to go up on appeal. As I stated, when I made my ruling previously, I do think this is a bit of a novel issue. I don't think there is clear case law on this. And I believe that reasonable minds could differ on an outcome here. So I think it is important to have this heard on the merits in the court of appeals which is why the stay is also proper.

See Appendix G (10/22/20 VRP at 14).

D. The Court of Appeals Affirms the Superior Court, but on Different Grounds

The Court of Appeals issued a published Opinion affirming the Superior Court's judge decision requiring WWU to disclose the unredacted disciplinary results. *See App A* (Opinion). The reviewing court rejected the Plaintiffs' core

argument and Judge Freeman's interpretation of the *Lindeman* case. *See id.* at 7-10. The Court of Appeals nevertheless affirmed the Superior Court's order, finding, *inter alia*, that WWU is not a "public school" within the meaning of the PRA. *See id.* at 10-16. The Court of Appeals also decided that the pertinent WAC provisions did not constitute "other statutes" under the PRA. *See id.* at 22-24. Finally, the Court of Appeals rejected the issues that had been overlooked by the Superior Court. *See id.* at 16-24.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The issues raised by this petition are "significant question[s] of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington [and] of the United States," RAP 13.4(b)(3), as well as "issue[s] of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). In fact, these issues could impact thousands of students at colleges and universities throughout the State of Washington. Moreover, not

only does this case presents significant questions of law under Washington's Public Records Act and the Constitution of the United States, but the Court of Appeals' decision is in direct conflict with several decisions of the United States Supreme Court and other courts.

Yet, even more fundamentally, this case squarely presents the question whether the PRA can be used as a tool to acquire the names of any student who may have been disciplined by a public university – and thereby create a registry of student offenders much like Washington's sex offender registration list – even though these same students were promised that the outcome of the disciplinary proceedings would remain confidential.

A. The Use of Washington's PRA to Obtain Student Personal Identifying Information is an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

Washington has more than 40 public universities and colleges. *See* https://nces.ed.gov/collegenavigator/. Even in the face of a pandemic which has derailed "in person" learning, the total enrollment at Washington's public universities and colleges

is well over 200,000 students. *See id.* For example, WWU reported a total enrollment of 15,197 students for fall 2021. *See https://admissions.wwu.edu/quick-facts.*

This case present issues of profound importance to countless students throughout Washington.⁴ Should this decision stand, the PRA process may be used as a mechanism to obtain the "final results" of hundreds – if not thousands – of disciplinary cases from the public universities and colleges in the State of Washington.

- B. The Court of Appeals' Published Decision Raises Significant Questions of Law Under Washington's Public Records Act and the Constitution of the United States.
 - 1. Student Intervenors' Due Process Rights
 Were Violated, as They Were Assured
 Their Records Would Not be Released to
 the Public Before They Participated in
 WWU's Student Disciplinary
 Proceedings.

In *Krakauer v. State of Montana*, 296 Mon. 247, 396 P.3d 201 (2019), the Montana Supreme Court faced some of

-

⁴ Since the PRA has no limitation period, the case presents issues that would touch the lives of former students, current students and future students.

the same issues present in this case. As the *Krakauer* court noted:

Taken together, these statutes and policies indicate Doe did not have notice his educational records would be subject to public disclosure by the University. Quite the opposite, the statutes and policies provide students like Doe with steadfast assurances that the university system will affirmatively protect their records from disclosure, just as the University and the Commissioner have done here. Doe had notice the University could only disclose the results of his disciplinary proceedings to an alleged victim, essential University personnel, or other necessary individuals in compliance with federal or state law, which would include compliance with a judicial order or subpoena. The University did not have a policy of disclosing educational records. In fact, absent Doe's consent or a judicial subpoena, the University could only disclose specific information from Doe's records in limited circumstances. Accordingly, Doe did not have notice his educational records were publicly available or the University would possibly publicly disclose them.

Id. at ¶ 21.

The very same is true in this case. The Student Intervenors had no notice that the results of his/her disciplinary proceeding might be released to the public. Rather, they were told that any results of the disciplinary hearing would be disclosed *only* to

the complainant and essential school personnel. At the time of the underlying disciplinary proceedings, the student intervenors had every reason to believe that WWU would not release his/her personal information or information relating to the outcome of those proceedings to the public at large. Put another way, Student intervenors were deprived of basic due process protections as they were never advised that their personally identifiable information or the results of any disciplinary proceedings could be disclosed to the public at large.

The Court of Appeals rejected the Student Intervenors' due process claim and refused to follow the Montana Supreme Court's decision in *Krakauer*, by pointing to language in WAC 516-21-310(1). In the Court of Appeals' view, the Student Intervenors had "adequate notice" because WAC 516-21-310(1) "expressly provides for disclosure 'as required by law." App. A (Opinion at 24). But this contention is disingenuous as the cited language cannot be found in the version of the Code in existence at the time of the Student Intervenors' disciplinary proceedings.

Rather, without explanation or justification, the Court of Appeals has chosen to rely upon a version of the Code that was enacted *sometime after 2018*.

The Code provision in existence at the time the Student Intervenors faced their disciplinary proceedings – 2015 and 2017 – contained an unconditional mandate that these records of their personally identifiable information "[w]ill not be shared with *any member of the public*, except upon the informed written consent of the student(s) involved. . ." WAC 516-21-310(1)(b) (emphasis added). It is unreasonable to suggest that these students had "adequate notice" that this mandate was illusory or that the school's these assurances might evaporate if the Code was amended in later years.

2. Student Intervenors' Personally Identifying Information is Exempt from Disclosure Under the PRA

i. WWU is a Public School

In the proceedings below, Plaintiffs and the Student Intervenors agreed that WWU is a "public school" within the

meaning of the PRA. The Superior Court judge reached that same conclusion and rejected the arguments advanced by the University. *See Appendix F* (In so ruling, the Superior Court explained:

I don't take such a limited view as far as the public school definition. It's not defined by the statute itself, but I am not sure it should be limited to that which is the constitutional standard in light of the fact that reading RCW 42.56.230 as a whole, there are a number of exceptions that are carved out of the PRA. And essentially those students attending public universities would be entirely excluded under those exceptions if I were to read it so narrowly, as far as the definition of public school. I could go through a number of different statutes that define both include and exclude based on that definition. But I think for the purposes of the Public Records Act, I do believe that a public university does fall within the exceptions of 42.56.230 (1).

Appendix F (8/10/20 VRP at 4)).

But the Court of Appeals rejected this conclusion. In the Court's view, WWU is a "public agency" within the meaning of the PRA but it is not a "public school" within the meaning of the PRA exception in RCW 42.56.230(1). *See Appendix A*.

As a threshold matter, the Court of Appeals concluded that the legislature did not intend this exception to apply to institutions of higher learning. Rather than focus on the ordinary meaning of the term "public school" – or what the Court referred to as the "most basic meaning" (*id.* at 12) – the Court decided that the legislature must have intended a somewhat more technical definition of that term. In essence, the Court concluded that the PRA exemption was intended to apply only to "common schools" even though the legislature did not use that term in the PRA statute. Moreover, as further support for this conclusion, the Court looked outside the statute to opine that "use of the term 'public schools' is narrow and limited." *Id.* at 14.

The Court of Appeals relied heavily upon the definition used in Article IX, § 4 of the Washington State Constitution. This Court considered that provision in *State ex rel. Gallway v. Grimm*, 146 Wn.2d 445 (2002), and noted its objective to "define the constitutional principle in accordance with the original understanding of the ratifying public so as to faithfully apply the

principle to each situation which might thereafter arise." *Id.* at 460. Then, based upon an extensive and highly technical examination, the Court concluded that Article IX, § 4 was not intended to apply to institutions of higher education.

Here, by contrast, there is no reason to conclude that the legislature intended that the term "public school" was to be interpreted as if the PRA had been adopted in 1889. In rejecting any use of the 1990 edition of Black's Law Dictionary (which defined a school as an "institution or place for instruction and education"), the *Grimm* Court noted that the dictionary definition was published over one hundred years after the constitution's ratification. *See* 146 Wn.2d at 460. Here, by contrast, the Court of Appeals has relied upon a version of Black's law dictionary published many years after the PRA was adopted. *See Appendix* A (Opinion at 13 n.47).

The Superior Court judge was correct when he concluded that the PRA exemption covers all public schools – whether they be pre-schools, elementary schools, middle schools, high

schools, trade schools, state colleges, or public universities. The term "public schools" should be given its common (rather than technical) meaning when considering this section. While by no means dispositive, it is noteworthy that WWU's employees are currently represented by the "Public School Employees of Washington/Services Employees International Union, Local No. 1948 (PSE). See Pub. Sch. Employees of Washington/SEIU Local 1948 v. Washington State Labor Relations Office, a div. of Office of Fin. Mgmt., 155 Wn.App. 1047 (2010).

Students at Washington's public universities and colleges should not be left to guess whether their records are subject to disclosure under the PRA.

3. Personally Identifiable Information is

Exempt from Disclosure in Light the

Confidentiality Provisions in WAC 51621 and WAC 516-26

In addition to the express exemptions within the PRA, the statute contains a short clause exempting all records affected by an "other statute which exempts or prohibits disclosure of specific information or records." RCW 42.56.070 (2016). This

exemption requires that the "other statute" specifically limit production of the information or record. See *White v. Clark County*, 188 Wn.App. 622, 631 (2015).

Regulations are issued by authority of statutes. Like legislation and the Constitution, regulations are a primary source of law in Washington. Per RCW 42.56.070(1), certain regulatory rules can be treated as "other statutes" for purposes of PRA exemption. *See, e.g., White v. Clark County*, 188 Wn.App. 622, 631 (2015).

Here, the pertinent WAC provisions include a broad presumption of confidentiality as to student disciplinary matters. In fact, WAC 516-26-070 provides:

The university shall not permit access to or release of a student's education records or personally identifiable information contained therein to any person without the written consent of the student, except as provided in WAC 516-26-080, 516-26-085, or 516-26-090.

Id. (emphasis added). In addition, WWU's Code includes a comparable provision which provides that conduct records "will

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