FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/25/2022 3:28 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 100598-9

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

ERASMUS BAXTER, ASIA FIELDS AND JULIA FURUKAWA,

Respondents,

v.

WESTERN WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY, an agency of the State of Washington,

Respondent,

DOE 3 and DOE 4,

Intervenors-Petitioners.

ANSWER OF RESPONDENT WESTERN WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MELISSA L. NELSON Senior Counsel, WSBA #17439 2211 Rimland Dr. Suite 325 Bellingham, WA 98226 360-676-2039 Office ID #91003

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals Applied Well-Established Law and Determined That the Records Were Not Exempt from Public Disclosure

As the Court of Appeals acknowledged, "Washington's Public Records Act (PRA) mandates broad public disclosure. Its exemptions are to be construed narrowly to ensure that the public interest is fully protected." Baxter v. Western Washington University, 501 P.3d 581, 584 (2021). If there is a conflict between the PRA and other statutes, "the provisions of the PRA shall govern." RCW 42.56.030. Wash. Public Emp. Ass'n v. Wash. State Center for Deafness & Hearing Loss, 194 Wn.2d 484, 492, 450 P.3d 601 (2019) (WPEA) (quoting Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash., 125 Wn.2d 243, 261-262, 884 P.2d 592 (1994) (PAWS); RCW 42.56.030. The PRA requires agencies to disclose public records following a request unless a record falls within a specific, enumerated exemption or in reliance upon an "other statute which exempts or prohibits disclosure of specific information records." or RCW 42.56.070(1); WPEA, 194 Wn.2d at 493.

Two PRA exemptions were at issue below—RCW 42.56.230(1), which exempts "personal information in any files maintained for students in public schools", and the "other statutes" exemption, RCW 42.56.070(1). The Court of Appeals correctly held that neither exemption applied in this case.

B. WWU Is Not a "Public School" Under RCW 42.56.230(1)

The "public school" records exemption to the PRA cited by Petitioners does not apply here. RCW 42.56.230(1) exempts from public disclosure "[p]ersonal information in any files maintained for students in public schools." RCW 42.56.230(1). The Court of Appeals applied well-established rules of statutory interpretation and determined that RCW 42.56.230(1), the "student records exemption" does not apply to the records in this case because the term "public schools" as used in the exemption does not include postsecondary educational institutions such as WWU. *Baxter*, 501 P.3d at 584.

The Does continue to allege that the phrase "public school" as used in the statutory exemption includes universities such as WWU. The only disputed issue related to RCW 42.56.230(1) is whether WWU is a "public school."

The PRA does not define "public school." The Does, without citing legal authority, argue that the term "public school" as used in RCW 42.56.230(1) should be given its "common (rather than technical) meaning when considering this section." Petition at 20. As the Court of Appeals noted, the Petitioners effectively dismember the statutory phrase, arguing for separate definitions of "school" and "public." *Baxter*, 501 P.3d at 588.

In the absence of a statutory definition, the Court of Appeals correctly looked to the plain and ordinary meaning of the term "public school" by reference to a standard dictionary. Baxter, 501 P.3d at 588; Cornu-Labat v. Hosp. Dist. No 2 Grant County, 177 Wn.2d 221, 231, 298 P.3d 741 (2013); State v. Sullivan, 143 Wn.2d 162, 174, 19 P.3d 1012 (2001). The Court applied standard rules of statutory construction and considered the ordinary meaning of words, basic grammar rules, the statutory context, and related statutory provisions. Baxter, 501 P.3d at 588, citing Citizens Alliance for Property Rights Legal Fund v. San Juan County, 184 Wn.2d 428, 435, 359 P.3d 753 (2015); Cornu-Labat, 177 Wn.2d at 231. Importantly, the Court noted, "individual words should not be read in isolation; the plain meaning of two words used in sequence is sometimes more than the simplest and broadest meaning of those words when viewed individually." *Baxter*, 501 P.3d at 588, citing *State v. K.L.B.*, 180 Wn.2d 735, 742, 328 P.3d 886 (2014), and *State v. Roggenkamp*, 153 Wn.2d 614, 623, 106 P.3d 196 (2005). Further, "The plain and precise meaning of two words used in conjunction is part of the context recognized under the plain meaning rule." *Id*.

Applying these standard rules, the Court relied on the Webster's Third International Dictionary definition of "public school":

[(1)(a)] any of various endowed secondary boarding schools in Great Britain offering a classical curriculum and preparing boys [especially] for the ancient universities or for public service. [(b)] a similar school for girls. [(2)(a)] a tax-supported school controlled by a local government authority; [specifically] an elementary or secondary school in the U.S. providing free education for the children of residents in a specific area [and (b)] the building housing a public school.

Webster's Third New International Dictionary 1836 (2002).

Baxter, 501 P.3d at 589.

Consistent with established rules of statutory construction, the Court of Appeals acknowledged the Washington Legislature's recognition of the divide between higher education, governed by RCW 28B, and RCW 28A, governing elementary or secondary schools, grades K-12. RCW 28A.150.010 defines "public schools" to exclude universities from the definition:

Public schools means the common schools as referred to in Article IX of the state Constitution, charter schools established under chapter 28A.710 RCW, and those schools and institutions of learning **having a curriculum below the college or university level** as now or may be established by law and maintained at public expense.

RCW 28A.150.010 (emphasis added). *Baxter*, 501 P.3d at 589. The statutes governing colleges and universities are in a separate title, RCW 28B. WWU is a "regional university" that is defined by statute as an "institution of higher education" and a "postsecondary institution." RCW 28B.10.016 (2), (4).

"The Legislature is presumed to have full knowledge of existing statutes affecting the matter upon which they are legislating." *State v. Conte,* 159 Wn.2d 797, 808, 154 P.3d 194 (2007) (applying the presumption to the voters who adopted I-276, the Public Disclosure Act) (citations omitted). Nothing in the plain language of RCW 42.56.230(1), relevant dictionary definitions, related education statutes or case law indicates that the term "public school" as used in RCW 42.56.230(1) was intended to contradict the definition in RCW 28A.150.010 or otherwise apply to postsecondary institutions.

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the records were not exempt from public disclosure under RCW 42.56.230(1). Petitioners have failed to establish a basis for review.

C. *Lindeman v. Kelso* Does Not Apply to Education Records at a University

The Does and WWU agree that the student disciplinary records are "records in files maintained for students" for purposes of RCW 42.56.230(1). The journalists lack standing to seek review of this issue under RAP 3.1. Their invocation of *Lindeman v. Kelso*, 162 Wn.2d 196, 172 P.3d 329 (2007), is not

a compelling reason to review this case. Analysis of *Lindeman* is not required to resolve the issues before this Court; it is only relevant to cases involving "public schools".

Lindeman involved whether former RCW 42.17.310(1)(a), recodified as RCW 42.56.230(1), exempted a surveillance video from a public elementary school bus that captured two students in an altercation. *Lindeman*, 162 Wn.2d at 199. The parties did not dispute that the elementary school was a "public school" for purposes of RCW 42.56.230(1). The primary question was whether the video, filmed to provide security and safety on school buses, was a record maintained in a student's personal file. *Id.* at 203. The Court held that "the videotape was not, and could not have been legally withheld as a student file document under former RCW 42.17.310(1)(a)." *Id.* at 204.

The school bus videotape was the only record at issue in *Lindeman*. The case does not address whether individual student discipline records are part of each student's personal file. But within the bounds of FERPA, personally identifiable information

relating to students is protected no matter where it is held in the institution. As the Court of Appeals correctly noted: "Along with assessments, achievements and evaluations, a disciplinary record that a student committed a serious violation of the student code of conduct would logically and reasonably be located in student's permanent file." *Baxter,* 501 P.3d at 588. The journalists' arguments regarding *Lindeman* do not form a basis for review.

D. WWU WAC Regulations Are Not an "Other Statute" Under RCW 42.56.070(1).

The Does argue that WAC 516-21-310 and WAC 516-26-070, sections of WWU's student code of conduct and student records rules, qualify as an "other statute" that "exempts or prohibits disclosure of specific information or records" under the PRA, RCW 42.56.070(1). Petition at 20-22. The Court of Appeals correctly analyzed and applied existing case law, holding that WAC regulations alone do not constitute an "other statute" under RCW 42.56.070(1) when there is no

17

corresponding and related statutory provision exempting the records from disclosure. *Baxter*, 501 P.3d at 593.

Consistent with the Court of Appeals and contrary to the Does' argument, White v. Clark County, 188 Wn. App. 622, 354 P.3d 38 (2015), does not hold that a state agency regulation "other standing alone constitutes an statute" under RCW 42.56.070(1). *White* is factually unique and inapplicable to this case. The White court held that, in the context of pretabulated election ballots, the combination of article VI, § 6 of the Washington Constitution, specific sections of RCW Title 29A, and Secretary of State regulations together constitute an "other statute" exemption to the PRA under RCW 42.56.070(1). It concluded that the County did not violate the PRA by not disclosing the pre-tabulated ballot images. White, 188 Wn. App. at 636-37.

The Does reliance upon *Mills v. WWU*, 170 Wn.2d 903, 246 P.3d 1254 (2011) is also not instructive. *Mills* is not a public records case and has nothing to do with WAC regulations. The

Mills holding addressed the closure of a faculty disciplinary proceeding under the APA, RCW 34.05. *Mills*, 170 Wn.2d at 913.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the WWU regulations standing alone do not constitute an "other statute" under RCW 42.56.070(1). The regulations are not supported by a corresponding or related statutory provision mandating that unredacted disciplinary records are exempt from public disclosure.

E. The Doe Intervenors Fail to Raise an Actionable Due Process Claim

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that Does 3 and 4 failed to establish an actionable due process claim because the Does received adequate notice that the results of disciplinary proceedings could be disclosed to the public. A reviewing court should not decide a constitutional issue unless it is absolutely necessary to the determination of the case. *State v. Hall*, 95 Wn.2d 536, 539, 627 P.2d 101 (1981). A decision on constitutional issues is not required here. In *Goss v. Lopez*, 419 U.S. 565, 95 S. Ct. 729, 42 L. Ed. 2d 725 (1975) the United States Supreme Court held that within disciplinary hearings, students are only entitled to minimal due process protections. They are entitled to "some kind of notice" and "some kind of opportunity for a hearing." *Goss*, 419 U.S. at 574. The Petitioners have failed to cite to any authority indicating that they have a greater due process right to notice that the records resulting from such disciplinary hearings may be subject to disclosure in response to an appropriate PRA request.

As the Court of Appeals correctly found, the applicable regulations, WAC 516-26-070 (student records), the FERPA regulations, and WAC 516-21-310 (student conduct code) contain multiple provisions providing Does 3 and 4 with notice that the confidentiality of their conduct records was subject to the limitations of the law. WWU's WACs likewise implement and incorporate FERPA. *Baxter*, 501 P.3d at 594.

WAC 516-26-010 states that the purpose of WWU's student records policy "is to establish rules and procedures that

20

appropriately implement the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974 (FERPA), 20 U.S.C. § 1232g." Under this WAC, the University is "committed to safeguarding appropriate access to student education records as well as maintaining individual student privacy." WAC 516-26-010. The Does argue that this WAC and the Student Conduct Code, WAC 516-21 provide them a promise of confidentiality and failed to notify them that their individual records might be released. Petition at 21-22. Based upon the plain language of the WACs and FERPA's numerous exceptions to nondisclosure of education records, this is simply incorrect. Further, the University lacks the authority to enact rules that guarantee such confidentiality. Brouillet v. Cowles Publ'g. Co., 114 Wn.2d 788, 794, 791 P.2d 526 (1990)

FERPA, the law that WAC 516-26 implements, has included the "final results" exception since 1998. This exception allows WWU to release the name of the student, the violation committed, and any sanction imposed by the institution on the

21

student without student consent due to the extremely serious nature of the violations. 20 U.S.C. § 1232g(b)(6)(B) and (C); 34 C.F.R. § 99.31(a)(14)(i); 34 C.F.R. § 99.39. The PRA request in this case mirrored the language of the "final results" exception. CP 219. Even the Montana case cited by Petitioners recognized that FERPA exceptions can provide students with adequate notice that their records may be released to the public. *Krakauer v. State*, 396 Mont. 247, 256, 445 P.3d 201 (2019); *Baxter*, 501 P.3d at 594.

The FERPA regulations also require institutions to provide students with an annual notification of rights. 34 C.F.R. § 99.7. WAC 516-26-100 is WWU's outward-facing implementation of this requirement. This rule requires the University to "annually notify students currently in attendance of their rights under this chapter and the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act." WAC 516-26-100. These student rights include the right to review and inspect their education records, the right to request an amendment to correct their records, and the right to "allow or deny disclosures of personally identifiable information contained in the student's education record, **except to the extent that these regulations and the regulations promulgated pursuant to the Family Educational Rights Act allow**." WAC 516-26-100(1)-(3) (emphasis added).

The plain language of WAC 516-26-100 provides students notice that the privacy of their records is subject to FERPA. Based upon the fact that the notification is required annually, and specifically incorporates the FERPA regulations, the students had notice that FERPA regulations imposed limitations to the protections of their records. The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that the Does failed to establish an actionable due process claim because they received adequate notice that the records at issue could be subject to public disclosure.

The Does also argue that Chapter 516-21 promises confidentiality of their records. Petition at 20, 27. But WAC 516-21-310 makes no such promise, rather, it specifies that the confidentiality of conduct records will be "maintained in

23

compliance with the student records policy [WAC 516-26-070]" and "all applicable state and federal laws." WAC 516-21-310(1). Applicable federal laws include FERPA. Applicable state laws include the PRA.

The Does argue that the Court of Appeals relied upon the wrong version of the WAC 516-21 in determining they had notice, but under either the 2011 version of the Student Conduct Code cited by the Does or the 2018 version cited by the Court of Appeals, WAC 516-21-310(1) provided the Does with notice that the confidentiality of their records was subject to limitations imposed by state and federal law. CP 151, *Baxter*, 501 P.3d 593. Both versions also refer back to the student records policy that explicitly notifies students that their ability to deny disclosures of personally identifiable information in their student records is limited by the FERPA regulations and state law. WAC 516-26-100(3). CP 163.

Finally, WWU has public records rules in Chapter 516-09. These rules state that the university complies with FERPA, and "these rules will be interpreted in favor of disclosure." See WAC 516-09-010(3), -060(1)(b).

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the Does had adequate notice that their records may be released to the public under some circumstances. The Does have failed to raise a significant question of constitutional issue as required by RAP 13.4(b)(3).

F. FERPA Is Not Void for Vagueness

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